IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 06-2233

RICHARD LYNCH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0005584

Nathaniel Plucker Florida Bar No. 0862061

Maria DeLiberato Florida Bar No. 0664251

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 Corporex Park, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813) 740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Lynch's motion for post conviction relief brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851, and denial of his Motion To Disgualify Judge.

Citations shall be as follows: The record on appeal concerning the 1999 trial proceedings shall be referred to as "TR ____" followed by the appropriate page numbers. The postconviction record on appeal will be referred to by the appropriate volume and page numbers. (ROA V. - P. -) All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained herein.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Richard Lynch has been sentenced to death. The resolution of issues involved in this action will determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims at issue and the stakes involved. Richard Lynch, through counsel, respectfully requests this Court grant oral argument.

i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT i
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT i
TABLE OF CONTENTS ii
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES iv
STATEMENT OF CASE 1
STATEMENT OF FACTS 4
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 27
STANDARD OF REVIEW 29

CLAIM I

CLAIM II

CLAIM III

CLAIM IV

MR. LYNCH WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROHIBITED HIM FROM INTRODUCING TESTIMONY AS TO THE PREVAILING NORMS AMONG CAPITAL DEFENSE COUNSEL IN SUPPORT OF HIS CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL..... 92

CLAIM V
THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. LYNCH'S CLAIMS
THAT HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS UNDER BRADY AND GIGLIO WERE
VIOLATED WHEN THE PROSECUTOR WITHHELD MITIGATING EVIDENCE
AND ALLOWED DR. REIBSAME TO TESTIFY FALSELY
CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT 100
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 101
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 102

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Acree v. Hartford South Inc., 724 So.2d 183 (Fla. 5^{th} DCA 1999)54
Andresen v. Maryland, 427 U.S. 463 (1976)
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000)62
Asbury v. State, 765 So.2d 965 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2000)
Berry v. Berry, 765 So.2d 855 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2000) 91
Berry v. State, 668 So.2d 967 (Fla. 1996)
Bolin v. State, 642 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1994)
Bolin v. State, 650 So.2d 19 (Fla. 1995)
Bolin v. State, 793 So.2d 894 (Fla. 2001)
Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 6 S.Ct. 524, 29 L.Ed. 746 1886) 46
Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709 (1969) 30, 62
Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742 (1970)
Brinson v. State, 789 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)
Brown v. State, 885 So.2d 391 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2004)
Bundy v. Rudd, 366 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1978)
Carroll v. State, 818 So.2d 601 (Fla. 2002)
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973)
Chapman v. California, 368 U.S. 18 (1967)
Cherry v. State, 781 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 2001)
Chillingworth v. State, 846 So.2d 674 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 2003)86, 91
Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738 (1990)61
Coday v. State, 946 So.2d 988 (Fla. 2006) TOA Passim

Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443 (1971) 46 Cunningham v. Zant, 928 F.2d 1006 (11th Cir. 1991) 59 Deaton v. Dugger, 635 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1993)63 Dominguez v. State, 944 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) 86 Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145 (1968)62 Edelstein v. Roskin, 356 So.2d 38 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978) 54 Florida v. Lewis, 838 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 2003) 52, 84 Glenn v. Tate, 71 F.3d 1204 (6th Cir. 1995) 80 Grosvenor v. State, 874 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 2004) 30, 63 Hardwick v. Crosby, 320 F.3d 1127 (11th Cir. 2003) 59 Harris v. Alabama, 513 U.S. 504 (1994)64 Harrison v. United State, 392 U.S. 219 (1968) 42 Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985) 30, 31, 63 Horton v. Zant, 941 F.2d 1449 (11th Cir. 1991) 37 House v. Balkcom, 725 F.2d 608 (11th Cir. 1984) 59 Ingraham v. State, 811 So.2d 770 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) 47 Jones v. State, 844 So.2d 745 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) 38

vi

McCarthy v. United States, 394 U.S. 459, 89 S.Ct. 1166 (1969)30 McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948 (Fla. 2002)66 McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 90 S.Ct. 1441 (1970) ... 30 Mitchell v. Ahitow, 1993 WL 86809 (N.D. Ill. 1993) 90 Nix v. Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157 (1986)66 Orme v. State, 896 So.2d 725 (Fla. 2005)66 People v. Andrew, 156 A.D.2d 978 (N.Y. Ap. Div. 1989) 86 Porter v. Singletary, 14 F.3d 554 (11th Cir. 1994) 71 Ragsdale v. State, 798 So.2d 713 (Fla. 2001) 60, 71 Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002)62

vii

Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374 (2005)66 Santiago v. State, 909 So.2d 710 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) 90 Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973) 46 Sochor v. State, 883 So.2d 766 (Fla. 2004) TOA Passim State v. Braggs, 815 So.2d 657 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) 35 State v. Lewis, 838 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 2002)60 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) 57, 61 Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 93 S.Ct. 1602 (1973) ... 30 United States v. Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83 (1980) 50 Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003) TOA Passim Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000) 61, 65

viii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On March 5, 1999, Richard Lynch was arrested and subsequently charged by indictment, on March 23, 1999, with two counts of first degree murder, one count of armed burglary and one count of armed kidnapping in the shooting deaths of his former lover, Roseanna Morgan, and her daughter, Leah Caday. Public Defenders Jim Figgatt and Tim Caudill were assigned to Mr. Lynch's case.

On October 19, 2000, acting upon advice of counsel, Mr. Lynch entered a guilty plea as charged to all four counts in the Indictment and waived a penalty phase jury. ROA, Vol. I 285-86 and 366-393. This Court conducted a penalty phase bench trial January 8-12, 2001 and a *Spencer* hearing February 6, 2001. On April 3, 2001, the trial court sentenced Mr. Lynch to death for the murders of Ms. Morgan and Ms. Caday. The court found the following aggravators as to Roseanne Morgan: 1) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification; 2) the defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person (contemporaneous crime involving Leah Caday); the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in an armed burglary. The court found the following aggravators as to Leah

Caday: 1) the defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or a felony involving the use or threat of violence (contemporaneous crime involving Roseanne Morgan); 2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in aggravated child abuse, burglary or kidnapping; 3) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The trial court found the following mitigators to apply: 1) the defendant was under an emotional disturbance but it was not (moderate weight); 2) the defendant's capacity to extreme conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was impaired but not substantially impaired (moderate weight); 3) no significant history of prior criminal activity (little weight); 4) the defendant suffered from mental illness at the time of the offense (personality disorder) (little weight); 5) the defendant was emotionally and physically abused as a child by his father but no connection to murders (little weight); 6) the defendant has a history of alcohol abuse (little weight); 7) the defendant has adjusted well to incarceration (little weight); 8) when possible, the defendant has sought gainful employment; 9) the defendant cooperated with the police (moderate weight); 10) the defendant was a good father to his children (little weight).

Mr. Lynch timely filed a Notice of Appeal and challenged his sentence of death. This Court upheld his death sentence and found, inter alia, that the lower Court's finding that there was

insufficient evidence for the statutory mental health mitigators to apply was not error and Mr. Lynch's plea was voluntarily entered. Lynch v. State, 841 So.2d 362 (Fla. 2003). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 6, 2003. Lynch v. State, __ U.S.__, 124 S.Ct. 189, 157 L.Ed.2d 123 (2003).

On July 27, 2004, Mr. Lynch timely filed a 3.851 motion for postconviction relief. The lower court conducted an evidentiary hearing on July 25 through July 30, 2005 on all claims.¹ In addition, the court took judicial notice of the entire Circuit Court case file and the record on appeal. The lower court entered an Order denying Mr. Lynch's Motion on April 3, 2006 (ROA V. XI, p. 1852-1907. The State filed a Motion for Clarification of Order on 6, 2006, asking April the postconviction court to correct its Order Denying Relief because the court, in denying Mr. Lynch's claim of failure to present brain damage, made a clearly erroneous finding that Dr. Danziger had testified at the penalty phase when in fact he had not. ROA V. XI, p. 1908-09. The lower court promptly changed that language and issued its Amended Order denying Mr. Lynch's claim on April 10, 2006. ROA V. XI, p. 1910-62. On April 13, 2006, Mr. Lynch filed a Motion To Disqualify the Court based on facts first learned in the initial Order Denying Relief. ROA V, XI, p.

¹ Mr. Lynch withdrew Claims I(G) and VII (Destruction of Evidence)prior to the start of the evidentiary hearing.

1965-72. Mr. Lynch also filed an Amended Motion For Rehearing on April 21, 2006, addressing the Amended Order, as his original Motion for Rehearing and the Amended Order crossed in the mail. ROA V. XI, p. 1999-2017. On the same day, the lower court denied Mr. Lynch's Motion To Disqualify, ROA V. XI, p. 1997-98. On April 26, 2006, Mr. Lynch filed an Emergency Writ of Prohibition asking this Court to disqualify the lower court. FSC Case No. SC06-721. On July 11, 2006, this Court denied the Writ without prejudice to raise the issue on appeal. On October 29, 2006, the lower court entered its Second Amended Order Denying Mr. Lynch's Motion for Postconviction Relief. ROA V. XII, p. 2027-2092. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

TRIAL ATTORNEY TESTIMONY

During the course of representing Richard Lynch, Mr. Figgatt was lead counsel and had primary responsibility for the guilt and penalty phase. ROA V. XIII, p. 51. Mr. Caudill was second chair. Mr. Figgat was responsible for investigating the case and developing mitigation evidence. ROA V. XIII, p. 51; XVIII, p. 1102. Mr. Figgatt is not sure when he first saw Mr. Lynch but it was sometime after July, 1999, although Mr. Lynch had been seen by another assistant public defender, approximately 3 weeks after Lynch's arrest. ROA V. XIII, p. 35-36. He met with Mr. Lynch approximately 6 to 8 times over the course of two

years. ROA V. XIII, p.- 256. During the time frame when he represented Mr. Lynch, he also had approximately 25 other cases, including other death penalty cases, first degree murder cases where the state was not seeking death and some capital sexual batteries. Id at 45. The cases involved complex evidentiary issues including DNA, blood splatter and footprint analysis. In addition, the John Buzia case, which he handled at the same time as he represented Mr. Lynch, involved approximately 140 witnesses and was very time consuming. Id. at 49. Mr. Caudill was also responsible for 10 to 20 murder cases when he represented Mr. Lynch. ROA V. XVII, p. 1123.

Mr. Figgatt failed to retain a mitigation specialist or use an investigator in Mr. Lynch's case, other than for ministerial duties. ROA V. XIII, p. - 85. The attorneys did not use their investigator for anything substantive in preparation for the guilt stage or in investigating mitigation or preparing for the penalty phase. ROA V. XVIII, p. 1130-1131. Mr Figgatt said it was likely he took only one deposition in the case, the medical examiner, in preparation for the guilt phase. ROA V. XIII, p. 87-88. Other than reading the discovery documents, the only other guilt phase investigation he did was drive by the apartment complex where the crime occurred. ROA V. XIII, p. 89

The attorneys both said that they did not identify any defenses in Mr. Lynch's case and essentially advised Mr. Lynch

of this at the time he entered his plea. ROA V. XVIII, p. 1126; ROA V. XIII, p. 57-58.

Mr. Figgat was aware that Mr. Lynch had said the gun misfired and the shooting was accidental on the 911 tape and in his recorded statement to law enforcement. ROA V. XIII, p. 90. He did not investigate anything as to whether or not Mr. Lynch's claim was true and did not consult an expert or do any research on Glocks. ROA V. XIII, p. 90-94. Mr. Caudill said that they did not consider consulting a firearms expert. ROA V. XIII, p. 1110-11. Mr. Figgat also said if they had found out the gun was used or had been modified that would have been significant. ROA V. XV, p. 409.

Mr. Figgatt said the murder-suicide letter was "huge for the state . . . It was a big piece of CCP." ROA V. XIII, p. 95. Mr. Caudill also agreed that the letter was a "significant piece of evidence." ROA V. XVIII, p.1109. Mr. Figgatt didn't file a motion to exclude it because he couldn't come up with a theory to keep it out under spousal privilege. ROA V. XIII, p. 95-102.

Mr. Caudill said they thought they had no argument under spousal privilege to keep the letter out and could not say they reviewed any case law on the issue. ROA V. XVIII, p. 1124-25. Mr. Figgatt conceded at the hearing that he could have argued that the letter was a privileged communication and that the "principles of *Bolin* could apply to this letter." ROA V. XIII,

p. 106. Mr. Figgatt and Mr. Caudill both said they never advised Mr. Lynch of his right to claim spousal privilege. ROA V. XIII p. 107; ROA V. XVIII, p. 1126. Mr. Figgatt also conceded that he disclosed the letter to his expert without Lynch's knowing consent. Id.

The attorneys did not file any pretrial motions to suppress. Mr. Figgatt stated he never spoke to Virginia Lynch and assumed she willingly "delivered the [murder-suicide] letter to law enforcement," so there was no issue of lack of consent. ROA V. XIII, p. 115, 125. However, when shown Ms. Lynch's March 6, 1999 and March 16, 1999 sworn statements, (Def. Exhibits 18 and 19; ROA V. V, p. 796-839), Mr. Figgatt agreed that the letter was seized without her consent and he could have filed a motion to suppress the warrantees seizure of the letter. ROA V. XIII, p. 115-33. He agreed that general warrants are prohibited but admitted he was not familiar with the <u>Green</u> decision by this Court prohibiting general warrants. ROA V. XIII, p. 121.

Mr. Figgatt conceded that Mr. Lynch received no benefit for his plea and waiving a sentencing phase jury. ROA V. XIII, p. 72-76 He also said there was no advantage in pleading guilty and waiving a jury. Id. He agreed the prevailing standard establishes that entering a guilty plea and waiving a jury should only be done in the rarest of circumstances. Id.

Mr. Figgatt's penalty phase theory was that Lynch "was a

nice guy who had a really bad day." ROA V. XIII, p. 80-81. Mr. Figgatt never asked anyone on the defense team to prepare a biological history or a psychosocial history of Mr. Lynch. ROA V. XIII, p. 133. He did not obtain any records on Mr. Lynch's background and never saw, prior to the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Lynch's school records, credit card records, birth certificates or marriage certificates. Id. at 65. Mr. Figgatt conceded that he does not remember ever having Mr. Lynch sign a release to any other obtain confidential records or documentary information. He never visited Mr. Lynch's home in Sanford, nor did he ever travel to Brooklyn where Mr. Lynch had lived until he was 35. ROA V. XIII, p. -149. Mr. Figgatt had traveled to places such as Puerto Rico and California on behalf of other capital clients and funds were available to travel to Brooklyn. Id. at 149. He also agreed Mr. Lynch sent him a letter early on in the case asking him to contact "character witnesses," and listing their full names and addresses, including zip codes and phone numbers. Id. at 135-39; Def. Ex. 20, p. 840-41. He only spoke to a few of those witnesses yet didn't do that until about one month prior to trial, which was almost two years after the crime, and two months after advising Mr. Lynch to plea guilty and waive his right to a jury trial. Id. at 147. Mr. Figgatt had no recollection of the content of any of his phone conversations with these witnesses. Id. at 143.

One of the witnesses he didn't speak to was Gene Cody, Mr. Lynch's barber and Mr. Figgatt's barber. Mr. Figgatt said that he regularly saw and spoke to Mr. Cody at the barber shop while the case was pending, but never asked him about Mr. Lynch because he assumed Mr. Cody would not have much to say. Id. at 138-50.

Mr. Caudill said the mitigation investigation was Mr. Figgatt's responsibility, ROA V. XVIII, p. 1102, and that he (Caudill) had no contact with the lay witnesses. Id. at 1106. Mr. Caudill said they never obtained school records, never looked at the evidence in the custody of the Sanford Police Department, and they made the choice not to call the lay witnesses without ever speaking to them. Id at 1123-124, 1130. Mr. Caudill also said that mitigation investigation takes on greater importance when there is not much chance in the guilt phase. Id. at 1106.

Mr. Figgatt also said they neglected to look at the evidence, even though the evidence room was minutes from their office. Id. at 157. Mr. Figgatt agreed that the marriage certificates, birth certificates, death certificates, letters from Helen Lynch to her son, and handwritten notes about his birth, all contained in the evidence room, could have been helpful in establishing or corroborating mitigation. Id at 160-161. Mr. Figgatt said that Mr. Lynch's childhood confirmation

photograph, where he is holding a bible and a rosary and has his hands in prayer, was a powerful piece of humanizing evidence. Id at 161. He agreed that it is important to humanize a capital defendant and that "If I did anything severely badly on his behalf, its failure to humanize him." Id. at 150.

Mr. Figgatt also conceded that the credit card receipts from the evidence room, (Ex. 35 and 12-14) would have corroborated Lynch's claim of financial stress due to spending thousands on the victim. Id. at 190-192. "[C]ooking . . . over five thousand dollars inside of thirty days" was spiraling debt. Id. at 198.

As to the items in the State Attorney's file not disclosed to the defense, Mr. Figgatt confirmed he never saw Mr. Lynch's high school records. They would have been extremely helpful in terms of his grades and SAT scores, Id. at 199, because they all predate the crime and can't be "skewed." Id. at 210. Figgatt conceded that he never gave the school records to his expert because he didn't have them, and that, had he had them, he would have given them to Dr. Olander. Id. at 215. Mr. Figgatt also said that the certificates, demonstrating that Lynch had thwarted an assault and assisted in capturing a robbery suspect, would have been helpful non-statutory mitigation which would "bear a great deal on how this matter was presented." Id at -196 Mr. Caudill also said the State did not disclose those documents. ROA V XVIII, p. 1139.

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