### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC007-1246** 

### RICHARD LYNCH,

Appellant,

v.

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #410519
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Lynch's expert, Dr. McCraney, testified that Lynch met the statutory mitigator concerning impairment because of his inability to control his behavior. (PCRT739). Dr. McCraney also stated that although Lynch's psychosis interferes with his ability to distinguish right from wrong, he is "not totally incapable of doing it." (PCRT. 739-740). Furthermore, Dr. Sesta, who also testified on behalf of Lynch, testified that he did not think that Lynch was insane, that Lynch knew what he was doing, and he knew it was wrong, but that Lynch's brain damage "might" make him less culpable for the offenses for which he was convicted. (PCRT. 982-983). The evidence presented at the hearing on the instant motion has not convinced the Court to change its finding that Lynch was impaired, but not substantially impaired. Thus, any failure of defense counsel to cross-examine Dr. Reibsame on this issue did not prejudice Lynch.

#### I. CUMULATIVELY, COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE DEPRIVED MR. LYNCH OF HIS RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL AND PENALTY PHASE

This claim lacks merit based upon the findings and rulings set forth above.

(V12, R2044-2056).

These findings are supported by competent substantial evidence. During the plea colloquy on October 19, 2000, Lynch filed a waiver of the advisory jury in the penalty phase (TT369). After a comprehensive plea colloquy (TT369-381), the trial judge addressed the jury waiver (TT381). Lynch answered that he understood the consequences of waiving a jury and repeated that was his desire (TT381-382). The judge advised Lynch of the rights he was waiving. (TT382-383). The State objected to the waiver because:

[t]his particular strategy has been employed a number of times by the Public Defenders office in this circuit. The track record so far is in

every case it has been a successful strategy to avoid the imposition of death penalty.

(TT383). The State specifically requested the court impanel a jury. (TT384). The Court allowed the jury waiver. (TT384). The parties then discussed scheduling of the penalty phase and specifically mentioned the *Spencer* hearing. (TT385-389, 386). The record shows the trial judge advised Lynch as follows during the jury waiver colloquy:

If the jury by a vote of at least six to six recommends that you be given a life sentence, I will not override that decision and will impose a life sentence upon you. Do you understand that?

(TT 382). The *Spencer* hearing was specifically mentioned at the plea colloquy (TT 386). The record shows Lynch was alert and understood the proceedings. The trial judge specifically advised Lynch that he had the **A**right to have a jury of twelve persons hear matters in aggravation which are limited by statute, and any matters in mitigation that you wish to present.@(TT 382).

Trial counsel made a strategic decision to present mitigation evidence through Dr. Olander. This is a reasonable decision because, as defense counsel stated, an expert can "synthesize" the evidence to the crime. Lynch was 45 years old when he murdered Rosa and Leah. Counsel was not ineffective in their investigation of mitigating evidence. They presented substantial mitigation. The trial judge found numerous mitigating circumstances in his sentencing order and

the "mitigating" evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing was cumulative to the evidence presented by trial counsel at the penalty phase.

For example, Cessie Alphonso, a capital mitigation expert, testified about Lynch's background. However, Lynch discussed that history with both Dr. Olander and Dr. Riebsame in 1999 and 2000, and trial counsel presented that history at the penalty phase. Dr. Olander relayed details of the relationship with Morgan and Lynch's family history. (TT760—762). Dr. Olander testified that Lynch's father was a security guard who was laid off on disability and became a stay—at—home dad. He was a very strict disciplinarian and required Lynch to report to him every 30 minutes. (TT761). If Lynch was out playing with friends, he would have to run inside to report to his father. (TT761). If the father was not there, Lynch would have to sign a sheet. The other kids would tease Lynch about having to report to his father. The father imposed significant emotional abuse. (TT762). Dr. Olander spoke to Lynch's aunt, two cousins, the next—door neighbor. Those people reported no positive interaction between Lynch and his father. (TT763). The family described Lynch as a caring individual, but "weird." Cousin Danielle described one instance in which Lynch was reading a magazine upside-down. (TT764). Lynch would wash his hands repeatedly. (TT764). He would spend hours cleaning his car. (TT765). Lynch had a very close relationship with his mother. When the mother tried to "run interference between" Lynch and

his father, she would get hit. (TT771). Lynch lived with his mother into his thirties, and even a short time after he was married. (TT771). When Lynch's father died, he switched from Catholic to public school because of finances. He was so afraid of school that he dropped out and did not finish. (TT774). Her report showed a thorough biopsychosocial assessment and trial counsel was aware of those aspects of Lynch's life. (V8, R1484-1487; Defense Exhibit 40).

Insofar as Lynch argues Dr. Olander's mental health evaluation was deficient because she failed to identify brain damage and conduct testing to reveal deficiencies, this a claim based on *Ake vs. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S.68 (1985), and is procedurally barred. *See Moore v. State*, 820 So. 2d 199, 202, n.3 & 4 (Fla. 2002).

The trial judge found Dr. Danziger's testimony credible, and that finding is supported by competent substantial evidence. Findings as to credibility are entitled to deference. The attorneys in this case went to two different experts with expertise in neuropsychology to obtain evidence to help establish mental health mitigation. They made a strategic decision to not use Dr. Cox as they explained in their testimony and then went to Dr. Olander for further testing. The most that the 2005 testing showed was a mild brain abnormality in the frontal lobe and right hemisphere which the trial judge held would not change the findings on extreme emotional disturbance and substantially impaired capacity. The opinions of the defense experts that Lynch met the criteria for statutory mental were made in a

vacuum because they did not question Lynch about the specifics of the crime. Dr. Wu's testimony is opposed by both Dr. Holder's and Dr. Danziger's opinions that the PET scan is not an appropriate diagnostic tool for personality disorders and mental illness. At the penalty phase Dr. Olander testified to the existence of cognitive impairment, and Dr. Riebsame did not disagree. Lynch has failed to show counsel was deficient or how any deficiency prejudiced him. Defense counsel is entitled to rely on the evaluations conducted by qualified mental health experts, even if, in retrospect, those evaluations may not have been as complete as others may desire. See Darling v. State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S486 (Fla. July 12, 2007); State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221, 1223 (Fla. 1987). This Court has repeatedly emphasized that a reasonable investigation into mental health mitigation "is not rendered incompetent merely because the defendant has now secured the testimony of a more favorable mental health expert." Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 986 (Fla. 2000); see also Davis v. State, 875 So. 2d 359, 371 (Fla. 2003) ("Trial counsel was not deficient where the defendant had been examined prior to trial by mental health experts and the defendant was simply able to secure a more favorable diagnosis in postconviction.")

#### **CLAIM III**

JUDGE EATON, AS THE FINDER OF FACT, DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN EXAMINING THE EVIDENCE

Lynch claims Judge Eaton demonstrated bias by examining the Glock about which Roy Ruel testified at the evidentiary hearing. <sup>14</sup> At the penalty phase (which was judge-alone) an FDLE expert testified about the Glock pistol used to shoot Roseanne, and the medical examiner testified about the entry and exit wounds. The Glock was admitted into evidence at the penalty phase as State Exhibit 39. (TT239). At the request of collateral counsel, Roy Ruel was allowed to examine the Glock in preparation for the evidentiary hearing. (V3, R424-26; 442-49). When Mr. Ruel testified at the evidentiary hearing, the Glock which had been admitted at the penalty phase was not brought over with the evidence. Collateral counsel proceeded with Mr. Ruel's testimony because he had a to leave town that night. <sup>15</sup>

The judge had taken judicial notice of the record on appeal from the original proceedings. (V13, EH10). Rudolph, FDLE firearms examiner, testified at the penalty phase in 2001. She examined seven fired .45 caliber cartridge cases. (TT286-87). She examined the Glock, State Exhibit 39, and tested it to determine

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Lynch does not appeal the legal sufficiency of his motion to disqualify, and that issue is abandoned.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Collateral counsel seems to insinuate that the Glock was mysteriously missing at the evidentiary hearing. (Initial Brief at 87). The record shows that Ruel examined the firearms in evidence at the sheriff's office in Sanford. He "received the guns, examined them and returned them to the sheriff's office" pursuant to an order from the trial court. (V14, EH351). The firearms were not in the courtroom at the evidentiary hearing, and the trial judge offered to wait until the exhibit was brought over. (V14, EH351). Mr. Ruel wanted to use the Glock as a demonstrative aid, but had to leave town that night, so his testimony was presented without the Glock, which was State Exhibit 39 at trial. (V14, EH351-52).

if it was operating correctly. (TT292-93). The trigger pull was within normal specifications at 5½ pounds. The gun had a double action trigger pull. (TT293). The Glock is a semiautomatic gun which means "you have to release the trigger each time before to shoot the next shot." (TT294). With an automatic, one can pull the trigger and the gun will continue to fire, but the Glock was a semiautomatic. Even a person tensed up with the Glock, it would only fire one shot. To fire a second shot, a person would have to "fully release the trigger," then pull the trigger again. (TT294). The Glock functioned properly and there was nothing unusual about it. (TT295). The Glock has an ejection port that goes to the The barrel length is 3¾ inches. (TT323). When Rudolph right. (TT321). examined Roseanne's clothing, she found powder particles around the bullet holes, but no burning of the fabric which would indicate a close-range shot. (TT324-25). When a bullet comes out of the gun's barrel, there is gas. Powder comes out in a cone shape. Different distances from the target produce different patterns of gunshot residue. (TT327). Smoke and gas come out of the end of the barrel of the gun. (TT328).

Judge Eaton was the finder of fact at both the penalty phase and the evidentiary hearing. Lynch has presented no case law which says the finder of fact may not examine exhibits which have been admitted and about which testimony has been presented. The facts in the order denying this claim are supported by the

record. (V12, R2037-2040). Not only was the majority of this evidence presented through the testimony at trial, but also the lower court, as the finder of fact, was permitted to draw a logical inference from the admitted evidence. *See Franqui v. State*, 804 So. 2d 1185, 1195 (Fla. 2001); *Mann v. State*, 603 So. 2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 1992). To the extent Lynch argues "*ex parte*" testing of the Glock, this is apparently a misnomer and the defense is not alleging the State had any improper, or *ex parte*, contact with the judge. If that is the inference, it is not supported by the record.

Lynch also claims that because Judge Eaton responded to arguments in the motion for rehearing (which mirrored those in the motion to disqualify) when he entered a combined order denying relief and rehearing, the judge address the merits of the motion to disqualify and this "automatically created grounds for dismissal." (Initial Brief at 88). This issue was not raised below and is not preserved for appeal. The argument has no merit.

After Judge Eaton denied relief on his 3.850 motion, Lynch moved to disqualify the judge because he had examined the evidence. The motion to disqualify was dated April 13, 2006. (V11, R1965-72). On April 18, 2006, Lynch filed a Motion for Rehearing. (V11, R1999-2017). The motion to disqualify was denied as legally insufficient on April 21, 2006, (V11, R1997-98) and Lynch filed an Emergency Writ of Prohibition in this Court. Florida Supreme Court Case No.

SC06-721. This Court denied the writ on July 11, 2006, "without prejudice for Lynch to raise this claim in his appeal from the trial court's order denying his motion for post conviction relief." On October 29, 2006, Judge Eaton entered a Second Amended Order Denying Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (Rule 3.851) and Order on Defendant's Motion for Rehearing. (V12, R2017-2092).

Lynch had argued in his motion for rehearing that the findings in the original order were not supported by the record, that the court's testing of the trigger pull of the gun was conducted *ex parte*, and repeated other arguments made in the motion to disqualify. (V11, R2008-09). The combined order denying relief and rehearing addressed the arguments raised in the motion for rehearing. Lynch has cited no case law to support his argument that the trial judge cannot address arguments in the motion for rehearing simply because they were also raised in a motion to disqualify.

#### **CLAIM IV**

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF AN "EXPERT" ON INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The State moved to exclude the testimony of Robert Norgard as an expert on ineffective assistance of counsel (V4, R550-555). The motion was argued before Norgard's testimony and was granted. (V15, EH547-550, 567). Collateral counsel argued that Norgard was not testifying as a "Strickland expert" but as an expert in

the standard of practice by a Florida capital defense attorney in the years 1999-2001. (V15, EH548). The purpose of Norgard's testimony was proffered. (V15, EH550-567). After he was excluded as an expert, his testimony was proffered. (V15, EH568-591).

Lynch claims he was denied Due Process by Norgard's exclusion, an argument he did not make to the trial court. The Due Process argument is not preserved. Counsel did object to the exclusion of the evidence, however, and the standard of review is whether the trial judge abused his discretion. *Alston v. State*, 723 So. 2d 148, 156 (Fla. 1998).

The first requirement for the admission of expert opinion testimony is that it must be helpful to the trier of fact. *Anderson v. State*, 863 So.2d 169, 180 (Fla. 2003); §90.702, Fla. Stat. A trial judge with years of experience does not need a defense attorney to explain *Strickland*. The trial judge is capable of making findings of fact and applying the law according to *Strickland*. There is no need for an expert to second-guess the actions of counsel, particularly when decisions are strategic. Expert testimony is inconsistent with the legal test for ineffectiveness. *Freund v. Butterworth*, 165 F.3d 839, 863 n.34 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999). In *Provenzano v. Singletary*, 148 F.3d 1327, 1331-32 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998), the court held that an affidavit from a "defense expert" was meaningless since no two defense attorneys would defend a client the same way. The reasonableness of a strategic choice is a

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